IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES BRANT,	:
Appellant,	:
vs.	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Appellee.	:
	:

Case No. SC07-2412

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 14, 2004, the State Attorney filed an indictment charging Appellant Charles Brant with: (1) premeditated murder, a capital offense in violation of section 782.04(1), Florida Statutes (2003); (2) sexual battery, a life felony in violation of section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (2003); (3) kidnapping, a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment in violation of section 787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (2003); (4) grand theft of a motor vehicle, a third-degree felony in violation of section 812.014(2)(c)6, Florida Statutes (2003); and (5) burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery, a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment in violation of section 810.02(1)&(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2003) (v1/R1, 40-42). The kidnapping count asserted Mr. Brant "did forcibly, secretly, or by threat, confine, abduct, or imprison SARAH RADFAR with the intent to inflict bodily harm or terrorize SARAH RADFAR" (v1/R41). On September 2, 2004, the State filed notice of seeking the death penalty (v1/R2, 60).

On January 27, 2006, the defense filed a motion to suppress Mr. Brant's statements (v1/R7; v2/R198-262). On September 8, 2006, a hearing on the motion to suppress statements was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R10; v2/R301; v15/R1359-1520). On September 26, 2006, the trial court filed an order denying the motion to suppress statements (v1/R10; v2/R360-379).

On April 12, 2007, the defense filed a motion to dismiss the kidnapping charge because the undisputed facts fail to establish a

prima facie case where the confinement, abduction, or imprisonment incidental to the felony, and Mr. Brant's was statement establishes only false imprisonment (v1/R13; v2/R398-400). On April 25, 2007, the State filed a traverse (v1/R13; v3/R401-404). On April 26, 2007, a motion hearing was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R13; v16/R1593-1601). On May 14, 2007, the trial court filed an order denying the motion to dismiss kidnapping (v1/R14; v3/R412-418). The trial court found there was evidence Mr. Brant forcibly confined, abducted, or imprisoned Ms. Radfar with the intent to inflict bodily harm or terrorize her (v_3/R_{417}) .

On May 25, 2007, a hearing was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R14; v4/R753-789). Mr. Brant entered a guilty plea, reserving only the right to appeal the denial of the motion to dismiss the kidnapping charge (v1/R14; v3/R420-422).

On August 13, 2007, a hearing was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R17; v17/R1634-1650). Mr. Brant was adjudged guilty of each of the counts to which he pled guilty (v1/R17; v17/R1637).

On August 20-21, 2007, a penalty phase jury selection proceeding was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R17-19; v17-18/R/1651-1978). A motion to strike the panel was granted (v1/R18; v18/R1965-1966).

On August 22-27, 2007, a penalty phase bench trial was held before Judge Fuente (v1/R19-21; v3/R517-533; v7-11/T1-646). Mr. Brant waived a jury penalty phase trial (v1/R19; v7/T2-15). Evidence of the following was presented:

Appellant Charles Brant's mother, Crystal Coleman, had two

children, son Charles and daughter Sherry, with her first husband Charles Brant (v10/T480). Ms. Coleman's father was an alcoholic and physically abused her mother (v10/T481). Her mother suffered from depression for 25 years and was medicated for it (v10/T480). Her paternal grandmother was placed in a mental institution for depression (v10/T481).

Ms. Coleman's first husband, Charles Brant, was quiet and had a 75 or 76 IQ (v10/T482). His mother had a similar IQ (v10/T486). Her first husband was not abusive (v10/T482). She did not know her husband well; he worked a lot and was not around much during their 4½ year marriage (v10/T482). They had two children -- a daughter Sherry and a son, Appellant Charles Brant who was 3½ years younger than Sherry (v10/T517).

Appellant Charles Brant was born by breach birth on October 23, 1965 (v10/T483). A few weeks before the birth, Ms. Coleman was bit by a snake, and she had a bad reaction to medicine which caused crying day and night (v10/T483). She died twice during the birth (v10/T483). She suffered depression after the birth, despite medication she became suicidal, and she was placed in a private mental hospital for 6 weeks (v10/T484-485). Charles was then 6 weeks old (v10/T485). Her husband left her for a relative by marriage, Aunt Jenny, while she was hospitalized (v10/T482, 485). Her husband kept daughter Sherry, but sent Charles to live with his grandparents in West Virginia (v10/T485).

Ms. Coleman was diagnosed with post-natal depression (v10/T486). She heard voices and attempted suicide (v10/T487). She

received shock treatments and medication (v10/T487). She has been taking antidepressant medication since then and had been treated by a physician during the 4 years prior to the trial and by a psychiatrist during the 2 years prior to the trial (v10/T487-488).

Shortly after her release from the hospital, Ms. Coleman took custody of Charles (v10/T486, 488). She had difficulty raising him (v10/T489). He kicked her and carried on when she tried to feed him or change his diaper (v10/T489). When he began walking, he beat his head on the floor, he pounded holes in the walls, and he dug out plaster and ate it (v10/T489-490). He also ate fertilizer (v10/T490). She attempted to punish him, but she never beat him (v10/T489).

Ms. Coleman gained custody of daughter Sherry (v10/T491). Ms. Coleman received no support and had to work assembling missiles (v10/T490). The elderly landlady took care of the children (v10/T491). Charles had no children to play with other than his sister (v10/T491, 493).

Ms. Coleman married Marvin Coleman when Charles was 5 years old (v10/T492). They moved to Baltimore and Charles was enrolled in school (v10/T493). After 6 months of marriage, Mr. Coleman became a monster, going crazy when drinking alcohol, fighting over things of no importance, calling Ms. Coleman bitch and whore, whipping Charles until blood flowed for small things, and threatening to kill Ms. Coleman (v10/T495-496).

Mr. Coleman was verbally and mentally abusive to Ms. Coleman and he put guns to Ms. Coleman's head and razors to her throat

(v10/T513, 517). While drunk, he once mistook Ms. Coleman for his first wife and tried to kill her (v10/T497). On one occasion, Mr. Coleman came home drunk, he shoved Ms. Coleman against the refrigerator, Ms. Coleman and the children fled from the house through a window, Mr. Coleman coerced Charles back into the house, Ms. Coleman called 911, Mr. Coleman threatened the police, and he was arrested (v10/ T497, 509-510, 522). Ms. Coleman was afraid of leaving him (v10/T522).

The family lived in Baltimore for 3 or 4 years, then moved to Orlando (v10/T494). Mr. Coleman drank alcohol 6 or 7 times a month while they lived in Baltimore, but he began drinking every night in Florida (v10/T497-498). Mr. Coleman also smoked marijuana (v9/T529-530). He tortured Ms. Coleman every night until 4:00 or 5:00 a.m. when she prepared to leave for work (v10/T498).

Mr. Coleman showed no affection for the children (v10/T499-500, 521). From the time Charles was 8 years old, Mr. Coleman bullied him and sometimes took him outside and beat him but never did anything to Charles that required hospital treatment (v10/T514-518, 520). Charles was quiet, nonviolent, and sought to avoid conflict, and he once refused Mr. Coleman's orders to fight in the street (v10/T503, 522). Mr. and Ms. Coleman had one child, 33-year-old son Garrett (v10/T480, 492). Mr. Coleman paid no attention to Garrett (v10/T500). From the age of 13 to 16, Sherry was sexually abused by Mr. Coleman (v10/T522-524).

Ms. Coleman interceded during beatings of Charles on three occasions (v10/T515). Ms. Coleman's mother lived with them during

the first years in Florida, and she prepared the children for school (v10/T499). Ms. Coleman's mother ate supper in the kitchen because she could not stand Mr. Coleman threatening Charles at the dining room table (v10/T499). Ms. Coleman did not ignore her children, but she worked 70-80 hours each week (v10/T504).

Charles taught Garrett to play ball (v10/T500). Mr. Coleman once went to see Garrett, an All Star, play in a game, but he was drunk and he berated Garrett's performance (v10/T500). Mr. Coleman once went to see Charles play in a football game, but he made horrible comments about Charles, they left after a half hour, and they never attended another football game (v10/T501). Mr. Coleman once came home drunk and attacked Ms. Coleman and Garrett, Ms. Coleman phoned 911, and Mr. Coleman was arrested (v10/ T469, 475, 510-514). Ms. Coleman bailed him out of jail after he threatened to kill her and her family if she did not do so (v10/T469). As the children got older, Mr. Coleman spent less time at home, but things never improved (v10/T519).

Charles Brant left home when he was 17 years old and rented an apartment with a friend (v10/T502). Mr. Coleman was happy, but Ms. Coleman cried for days (v10/T502). Charles was once arrested for taking money from his landlady's penny jar, perhaps in 1985, and once he had a bad check charge (v10/T503, 506). Charles did not visit his family often (v10/T504). Garrett told Ms. Coleman that Charles was on drugs, then Charles invited her to his baptism and told her he had used drugs (v10/T504).

Ms. Coleman moved to Virginia in an attempt to leave her

б

husband and lived with her former supervisor, Gloria Milliner, for approximately four months, but Mr. Coleman followed her there (v10/T465-468). Mr. Coleman was very controlling and bad tempered, and the Colemans had disagreements constantly (v10/T468, 478). Mr. Coleman physically abused his son Garrett (v10/T476). Ms. Coleman began working for Ms. Milliner as a Circle K operation manager (v10/T467, 470). Mr. and Ms. Coleman then rented a house (v10/T467).

Charles Brant joined a church (v10/T504). He met Reverend Hess at a Gospel conference in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania (v9/T282-283). Reverend Hess invited Mr. Brant, a friendly likeable person, to attend Blue Ridge Bible College in Virginia (v9/T283-284). He was admitted despite admitting prior drug use (v5/R941; v9/T284). Mr. Brant did some wiring work in a house for Reverend Hess and did it well, and they became friends (v9/T286-287).

In 1990, Mr. Brant met Melissa McKinney while they were students at the Bible college (v8/T135, 182-183; v9/T281-282; v10/T504). She was in her second year and he was in his first year of the two year program (v8/T136-137; v9/T282). She planned to be an evangelist, a family tradition (v8/T183; v9/T282). Mr. Brant also wanted to be a minister, start churches, and be an apostle (v8/T183). He received As Bs, and Cs in his classes (v5/R942; v9/T289-290).

Contrary to college policy, Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney engaged in sexual contact and were apparently disciplined (v8/T218-221; v9/T285, 288-289; v11/T599-601). In 1991, Ms.

McKinney became disillusioned upon being told she would have to return for a third year, she dropped out and Mr. Brant left with her (v8/T136, 183, 220; v9/T281, 285-286).

Mr. Brant stayed at the Winter Park home of James Donald Harden, the father of a Bible college classmate James Harden, for three months (v9/T295, 300; v11/T597). Mr. Brant was a clean, respectful, and thoughtful guest, and he gave Mr. Harden no uneasy feeling (v9/T296). Mr. Brant stood out due to his odd yellow and orange hairdo (v9/T293). Mr. Brant dated Ms. McKinney, a neighbor of Mr. Harden (v9/T295; v11/T598). Mr. Brant, Ms. McKinney, and Mr. Harden attended at Faith Family Worship Center of God Church where Ms. McKinney's uncle, Leon Jackson, was pastor (v9/T295-296; v10/T379-380).

Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney married in Florida in June 1991, and lived in Altamonte Springs, Tampa, Lutz, and Virginia, moving often to find work (v8/T137, 186; v9/T297). When Mr. Brant, his wife, and his son moved to Virginia, they initially stayed with his parents (v10/T465-466). Mr. Brant and Mr. Coleman did not get along and they argued often, but Mr. Brant did not react violently (v10/T469, 477).

Mr. Brant worked and went to school to become a certified electrician (v10/T466). Mr. Brant often brought his toddler, Seth, to visit the Milliner country home (v10/T470). Mr. Brant was a loving father, he was quiet, he was never violent, he never appeared to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol, and he was always willing to help others (v10/T470-473). Mr. Brant assisted

Mr. Milliner with building a garage (v10/T472). Ms. Milliner and her husband thought the world of Mr. Brant and she felt like he was one of her children (v10/T470).

Mr. Coleman kicked Mr. Brant and his family out of the home (v10/T466, 474). Mr. Coleman later had a religious conversion, he gave up drinking and smoking, and he became a somewhat better person (v10/T468-469, 476-477, 513, 519). Sherry subsequently forgave Mr. Coleman (v10/T525, 530-531). Mr. Coleman and Charles reconciled (v10/T526). Garrett had a continuing crack cocaine problem, starting when he was 17 or 18 years old (v10/T529).

Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney separated 8 or 9 times during their 13-year marriage, due to Mr. Brant's drug usage (v8/T138, 187-188). Initially he used only marijuana, but later he began using ecstasy (v8/T188-189, 220). Charles Brant phoned Reverend Hess in the late 1990s about reapplying to the Bible college (v9/T286-287). Mr. Brant said he became reinvolved in drugs and was looking to straighten out his life (v9/T186). Reverend Hess assured him he could reapply, but Mr. Brant did not reapply (v9/T286287).

When Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney returned to Florida in 2003, they had problems with their marriage and Mr. Brant sought help from Pastor Jackson concerning drug addiction (v10/T380-382, 389-391). Pastor Jackson prayed with Mr. Brant and sought to place him in a residential drug program, but his family could not afford for him to take a year off from work (v10/T381-383). On three occasions, Mr. Brant, a skillful worker, did some electrical work

at the church and did it well (v10/T391-392). However, Pastor Jackson ceased asking him to work at the church when he sought to be paid for the third job (v10/T392-393).

Pastor Jackson believed Mr. Brant was immature and emotionally incomplete, and this may have been a result of his dysfunctional family and lack of a father figure (v10/T384-386). He believed Mr. Brant related to his sons more as a friend than as a father (v10/T386-387, 394). Mr. Brant's father-in-law helped the family when they were in need (v10/T384, 393-394). Pastor Jackson had not noticed any signs of Mr. Brant being under the influence (v10/T391). He believed Mr. Brant had respect for the Bible, he would admit he was not waking in the truth, he had the capacity to grow, and God could use him as an example to others not to go down the road he took (v10/T387-388).

Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney subsequently lived at 7509 Altaloma Street with their two sons, 12-year-old Seth and 9-yearold Noah (v8/T139-140, 185-186, 202). Mr. Brant was friendly, he got along with the children, he taught the children, he coached Little League 1 year, and he took the children surfing, fishing, and to amusement parks (v7/T114, 124; v8/T197-200, 213). Mr. Brant was very good with his hands, worked for an elevator company and did construction work, and did tile, electrical, drywall, and stucco work for the manger of the apartment (v7/T114-115, 124; v8/T144-145, 194; v9/T308-313). Mr. Brant made improvements to the residence before they moved in (v8/T145, 202). Ms. McKinney's parents lived on the same street, about one block away (v8/T140,

156).

Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney had normal sex daily, albeit from behind with her on her belly (v8/T210-211, 221-222, 225-226). For several years, Mr. Brant and Ms. McKinney also occasionally engaged in consensual sex games including him acting like an intruder/rapist, tying her, and using force against her (v8/T204-206, 210-212, 221-228). The sex games became too rough, Ms. McKinney asked him to stop, and Mr. Brant agreed, but continued surprising her approximately once every other week by attacking her while masked or attacking her from behind, blindfolding her, shoving a sock in her mouth, and having sex with her from behind (v8/T207-210, 221-226). The attacks were unplanned, "spur of the moment," spontaneous, and something that "came over" Mr. Brant (v8/T236-239). They never sought marriage counseling (v8/T209). Mr. Brant habitually wore latex gloves during the "assaults" (v8/T304).

Mr. Brant began using methamphetamine and introduced Ms. McKinney to methamphetamine use approximately 6 months before July 2004 (v8/T190-191). Mr. Brant used it often, staying awake for 4 or 5 nights each week, then he would crash (v8/T191). He was cheerful and calm under the influence of methamphetamine, and fidgety and "going about 100 miles an hour," but when coming down of it at the end of 4 or 5 days of use he became irritable and snappy (v8/T191-195). Ms. McKinney worked with him on construction jobs, especially at the end of projects when he was more concerned with methamphetamine than completing the job (v8/T194-195). Approximately 2 weeks before July 1, 2004, she heard him talk to himself while he was working (v8/T195). Methamphetamine use changed him - he no longer cared about finishing his jobs or about his family, all he wanted was more methamphetamine and he became obsessed with forceful sex (v8/T197, 206, 211-212, 216). Ms. McKinney began locking him out so she could get some sleep (v8/T237).

Steven Ball and his fiancée, twenty-one-year-old Sara Radfar, were neighbors on Altaloma Street (v7/T38-41, 114, 122; v8/T145, 203-204). Mr. Brant was a former resident of their apartment and he possessed a key to their apartment (v7/T41, 55; v8/T202-203). Mr. Ball asked for the key and he received it from Mr. Brant (v7/T41, 54). Mr. Brant came to the home once on the behalf of the landlord to prepare an electrical hookup for a washer and dryer (v7/T41-42, 54, 56). The apartment manager said Mr. Brant would take care of other maintenance problems (v7/T56). Mr. Ball visited Mr. Brant and they smoked marijuana together (v8/T203-204). Mr. Ball moved out one week before the murder and left their Ford Bronco with Ms. Radfar (v7/T39-40, 122; v8/T145-146).

Mr. Brant did not have full-time employment at the beginning of July 2004 (v8/T144). On the night of June 30, 2004, Mr. Brant jumped out of a closet, threw Ms. McKinney on a bed on her stomach, bound her hands, shoved a sock in her mouth, and pulled her pants down (v8/T214, 217, 222-223, 239). He was dressed in black from head to toe (v8/T214, 232, 239). When he let go of her, she ran to the bathroom, locked the door, and remained there all

night (v8/T215, 217, 227, 237). In the morning, she woke him, or believed he was feigning sleep (v8/T226-227, 233-234). She told him this must cease and threatened to call the police (v8/T226-228).

On the night of July 1, 2004, Ms. McKinney took the children to a movie that started at approximately 7:30 p.m. (v8/T147-148). When they left, Mr. Brant did not appear to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs, but he had been using methamphetamine that week while working on a job and was using them that day (v8/T149, 193-194, 216). He had been up without sleep since Sunday night (v8/T216-217). They returned home from the movie at approximately 11:00 p.m. (v8/T148-149). Mr. Brant was at home, washing dishes and cleaning the kitchen (v8/T150-151). They had been angry with each other for two days, but now Mr. Brant acted nice (v8/T151-152, 163). He did not appear to be under the influence of alcohol and he did not act suspiciously, but he was "speedy" and "fidgeting" (v8/T151-153). He did not mention seeing anything suspicious in the neighborhood (v8/T152).

Mr. Brant asked Ms. McKinney cut his long hair to avoid lice in light of a problem their children had weeks earlier (v8/T154-159). At approximately 11:30 p.m., she borrowed clippers from her mother to give him a close haircut (v8/T155-157, 159). The hair was placed in the garbage (v8/T157). They snuggled on the couch, then went to bed together (v8/T151, 153, 158, 238). She declined his request and they did not have sex that night (v8/T153, 215, 226, 238).

When Ms. McKinney woke at 7:00 a.m. on July 2, 2004, Mr. Brant appeared to be asleep but he might have feigned sleep (v8/T160, 233-234). When Ms. McKinney left for work on July 2, 2004, Mr. Brant was up and he remained at home with the children (v8/T143, 146, 160). That morning, her father took Seth to Georgia for the weekend (v8/T143, 147).

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