#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-2412

Death Penalty Case

Lower Tribunal No. 04-CF-12631

CHARLES BRANT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The death sentence imposed in this case is proportionate. On the morning of July 1, 2004, Charles Brant's [then] wife, Melissa woke up Brant, insisted that he had to stop his violent sexual attacks, and she threatened to contact the police. night, after his wife and sons went to a movie, Brant went to the home of his 21-year-old neighbor, Sara Radfar, where he raped and brutally murdered her. After Brant sexually battered, choked, and tried to suffocate Sara, she was still conscious or regained consciousness. Sara tried to run out of the house, but Brant captured her and then brutally killed her. During the violent attack, Brant gagged Sara with a sock, covered her head with a plastic bag, and wrapped multiple ligatures -- including a stocking, an electric cord to a heating pad, and a leather dog leash -- around her neck. In sum, Brant gagged her, raped her, choked her, suffocated her, and then strangled her again. "hiccupped" when he dumped her small 5'1" body into the bathtub.

When Brant's wife and sons returned home from the movie around 11:00 p.m., Brant was at home, washing dishes and cleaning the kitchen. According to his wife, Brant acted "nice," he did not act suspiciously, he did not appear to be under the influence of alcohol, although he was "speedy" and

fidgeting." Brant asked his wife to give him a close haircut and they snuggled on the couch and then went to bed together.

In imposing the death sentence, the trial court gave great weight to the aggravating factors of HAC and that the murder was committed during the course of a sexual battery. The trial court's comprehensive sentencing order painstakingly addressed all of the mitigating factors and evaluated the weight accorded each. This Court has found death to be the appropriate penalty in other cases involving similar aggravating and multiple mitigating circumstances, including mental health mitigation.

The HAC aggravator is among the weightiest in the statutory scheme. See, <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999). And the "murder in the course of a felony" aggravator is especially significant here because it relies on the undisputedly violent sexual battery.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, Johnson v. State, 969 So. 2d 938, 960 (Fla. 2007) (murder committed by manual and ligature strangulation; death sentence proportionate where aggravators were murder during commission of a sexual battery or kidnapping or both, HAC, and committed while on felony community control; and seven non-statutory mitigating factors included history of extensive drug and alcohol abuse); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 2003) (death sentence proportionate where victim was strangled with a ligature and aggravators were HAC, during course of kidnapping, and CCP, and four non-statutory mitigating factors related to defendant's relationships and character); Hauser v. State, 701 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 1997) (death sentence proportionate where the victim was strangled and aggravators were HAC, CCP, and pecuniary gain balanced against one statutory mitigator and four non-statutory mitigators, including being under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of the murder and a long history of mental health problems).

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

#### BRANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE

The Appellant/Defendant, Charles Brant, asserts that his sentence is not proportionate. As the following will establish, a review of the facts of this case as compared to similar cases, establishes that the death sentence was properly imposed and is proportionate.

## Legal Standards

Proportionality review "is not a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances."

Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 875 (Fla. 2006). Rather, to determine whether death is a proportionate penalty, this Court must consider the totality of the circumstances of the case and compare the case with other similar capital cases where a death sentence was imposed. See, Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 193 (Fla. 2005); Troy v. State, 948 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 2006); Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2006).

#### Facts

The trial court's comprehensive sentencing order set forth the following summary of the facts:

The factual basis recited by the prosecutor during the 25 May 2007 guilty plea, to which Defendant conceded, demonstrated that:

The Defendant lived in a house close to Ms Radfar's residence, and that at some time prior, he and his wife lived in that same apartment. On 1 July 2004 in the evening hours while his wife and children were at a movie, Defendant went to Ms Radfar's residence and managed to get inside where he killed Ms Radfar by strangulation and suffocation. He used his hands, a plastic bag, a dog leash, an electrical cord, and stockings.

Law enforcement officers found Ms Radfar's naked body in her shower with the water pouring over her body. Vaginal swabs showed Defendant's DNA in the collected semen.

Law enforcement officers questioned Defendant on 4 July 2004 and he admitted having vaginal intercourse with Ms Radfar; that he entered her residence because he wanted to take photographs of tile work he had done to the apartment; that when she came out of the bathroom he grabbed her and threw her on a bed and raped her without her consent, and that she resisted by words and acts.

Defendant forcibly, The secretly, threat, confined and abducted and imprisoned the victim with intent to inflict bodily harm and to terrorize her. At a time when he thought the dead and while victim was searching residence, the victim got up and attempted to go out the door. He grabbed her, took her back to the bedroom and suffocated and choked her to death. He put her body in the bathroom and under the shower in an effort to clean her up. She was hiccupping.

When law enforcement officers entered her residence, they found cleaning materials, and later found her Bronco vehicle near the residence The Defendant assaulted and battered the victim in her residence, which he entered under the pretense of taking pictures of tile work.

After killing Ms Radfar, Defendant went home and asked his wife to cut his hair. Law enforcement officers searched Defendant's garbage and found incriminating items of evidence, including the victim's car and house keys, and the victim's debit card.

Defendant returned to the victim's residence the following day to clean up, and avoided being detected by law enforcement officers by going out the back door when they arrived at the scene.

Defendant initially gave untruthful statements to investigators, including that he had seen a person leaving the scene of the offenses.

#### (V4/R703-704)

Upon imposing the death sentence in this case, the trial court found the following substantial aggravating factors established beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) and (2) murder committed during the course of a sexual battery. As to the aggravating factor of murder committed during the course of sexual battery, the trial court concluded:

The evidence convinces the Court beyond reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed the homicide in the course of committing sexual battery, to which he admitted and to which he pled guilty. Defendant's guilty plea, coupled with the other evidence, demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he sexually assaulted the victim with force and against her will, and that he thereafter, as part of the continuing series of events, decided to strangle and smother her with a plastic bag, ligatures, and his bare hands.

(V4/R734)

And, as to the weighty HAC aggravator:

evidence convinces the Court beyond reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed the homicide in a heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner. conscious when Defendant sexually Radfar was assaulted her using force and restraint, during which choked and strangled her to the point unconsciousness; was conscious or regained consciousness after he sexually battered her, and was conscious when she attempted to get out of the house, and was conscious when he further restrained her and strangled and smothered her with the plastic bag, ligatures, and his hands. The evidence, and common sense inferences from the evidence, establishes that victim endured the Defendant's violence several minutes, during which time she was certainly aware she was going to die.

(V4/735)

In evaluating these aggravating factors, which were accorded great weight, against the various mitigating factors, accorded little to moderate weight, the trial court painstakingly explained:

# Weighing

On 1 July 2004 Defendant was and had been for many months, using unlawful substances, primarily methamphetamine. He went to the victim's home and entered with her consent, ostensibly for the purpose of taking photographs of some tile work he had done in her house when he and his wife lived in that home several months before. The best evidence of what he then did comes from his pre-arrest statements and admissions to Detectives Esquinaldo and Losat. evidence is that he grabbed her and forcibly sexually assaulted her. He did not use a condom and ejaculated. In the process he placed a sock in her mouth. He then choked her and left her on her bed, believing she was dead or not conscious. While he was

looking around the house, she consciousness and attempted to leave the house. He grabbed her and took her back to the bed and strangled and suffocated her using his hands, a plastic bag over her head, and ligatures - a stocking, an electrical cord, and a dog leash - around her neck. conscious for some period of time and was obviously aware she was going to die, but she did not die immediately. She "hiccupped" while he placed her body in the bath tub and opened the shower on her. The cause of death was strangulation and suffocation. She could have remained conscious for as little as seven to fourteen seconds, and possibly more. She endured being violently sexually assaulted, being strangled to unconsciousness, of then consciousness, then was strangled again, to her death. Defendant killed Ms. Radfar without conscience, and without pity. The homicide was extremely torturous to the victim. She must have experienced fear and terror knowing she was going to die. The homicide was cruel. heinous, was atrocious, and was The Court places great weight on the conduct and manner of the sexual assault and the strangulation killing.

Defendant over the next several hours thereafter did things to conceal his crimes, including wiping areas to remove his finger prints, cleaning the room with cleansing materials, and taking her car from the area and abandoning it several blocks away. His conduct after the crimes however does not establish any facet of any aggravating circumstance.

Defendant in July, 2004 was 39 years of age, married, and had two sons. From the age of 5 until the age of 17 when he left his parents' home, his step father severely abused him emotionally, psychologically, and to a lesser extent, physically. lived in that home with his step brother sister. father also physically abused The step Defendant's mother and he sexually abused the sister. The step father was an alcoholic and an evil person to the children.

He later attended a bible school where he met his wife. He had been a religious person and wanted at one

time to become a minister. He and his wife to be left the school, married, and had children. At some time during the marriage, Defendant began to abuse drugs, including marijuana, cocaine, and methamphetamine, and became dependent or addicted.

He is diagnosed with chemical dependence and has symptoms of attention deficit disorder. More significantly, he is diagnosed with having a sexual obsessive disorder, or sexual sadism. This led to the sex games or fantasies in which he engaged with his wife, which included "assaulting" her and having "rough sex," much like his conduct with the victim of the homicide.

His diagnosed drug dependence and depression and childhood experiences led mental health experts to opine that because of these factors, his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, or to his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. He has a diminished ability to control his impulses.

He came to be a good and reliable worker and competent craftsman, and supported his family. He was a good father and husband. He has a reputation for nonviolence. Although Defendant has borderline verbal intelligence, he feels and has expressed genuine remorse for his actions. He attempted to turn himself in to the police the day after he killed the victim, and he cooperated with detectives when they went to his mother's home to interview him, and he ultimately confessed to the crimes. He later pled guilty to the murder and other charges, which dispensed with requiring the State to prove his guilt to a jury, and he waived his right to a jury advisory sentence.

The above are significant aspects of the Defendant's background and character, on which the Court places importance and weight, as indicated below.

1. Charles G. Brant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

# The Court accords this circumstance little weight

2. Defendant was emotionally, mentally, physically abused by his stepfather from age 17; he has diminished intellectual function; he has diminished impulse control due to drug dependency, and as a result, his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. He has a diagnosed sexual obsessive disorder.

The Court accords these circumstances moderate weight

- 3. Defendant at the time of the crime was 39 years old and had led a crime-free life.

  The Court accords this circumstance little weight
- 4. Defendant is remorseful, and expressed his remorse when initially interviewed, and has expressed his remorse to other persons since his arrest.

The Court accords this circumstance little weight

Defendant cooperated with law enforcement 5. officers when approached at his mother's home. He voluntarily accompanied detectives, while not under arrest, to a station house for questioning. He admitted the crimes when questioned. He later pled guilty to all crimes and did not require the State to prove the charges to a jury beyond reasonable doubt. He then waived his right to a jury penalty recommendation.

The Court accords these circumstances moderate weight

6. Defendant has borderline verbal intelligence.

The Court accords this circumstance little weight

7. Defendant has a family history of mental illness.

The Court accords this circumstance little weight

8. Defendant is not a sociopath or a psychopath, and does not have an antisocial personality disorder.

The Court accords this circumstance little weight

9. Defendant has diminished impulse control and is not able to make sound decisions because of his methamphetamine abuse, and exhibits periods of psychosis. Defendant has recognized his drug dependence problem and has sought help. Defendant used methamphetamine before, during, and after the murder and other crimes.

The Court accords these circumstances moderate weight

- 10. Defendant is diagnosed with chemical dependence, sexual obsessive disorder, and has symptoms of attention deficit disorder.

  The Court accords this circumstance moderate weight
- 11. Defendant is a good father. He encourages his sons to do well and expresses to them his interest in their welfare and how they are doing. His children, now ages 9 and 12, who he has not seen since 2004, responded favorably to him during the trial, and have written letters to him.

The Court accords this circumstance little weight

- 12. Defendant is a good worker and craftsman.

  The Court accords this circumstance little weight
- 13. Defendant has a reputation of being a non-violent person.

# The Court accords this circumstance little weight

(V4/R736-740)

## Analysis

In conducting proportionality review, this Court has stated that in the absence of demonstrated legal error, this Court will accept the trial court's findings on the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and consider the totality of the circumstances of the case in comparing it to other capital cases. Rodgers v. State, 948 So. 2d 655, 670 (Fla. 2006), citing, Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1134 (Fla. 2000). In conducting its proportionality review, this Court compares the case under review to others to determine if the crime falls within the category of both (1) the most aggravated and (2) the least mitigated of murders. See, Almeida v. State, 748 So. 2d 922, 933 (Fla. 1999).

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